UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CARLOS APONTE JR, individually and : CIVIL ACTION NO.
on behalf of all other similarly situated
individuals

Plaintiff

V.
THE COCA-COLA BOTTLING
COMPANY OF NORTHERN NEW
ENGLAND, INC. :
Defendants : FEBRUARY 22, 2017

INDIVIDUAL AND CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

I INTRODUCTION

1. This is a class action alleging race discrimination against non-white employees of The
Coca Cola Bottling Company of Northern New England, Inc. Defendant has maintained
and applied a preference for white employees over non-white employees for management
positions. Plaintiff Carlos Aponte and other non-white employees have been passed over
for promotion into management roles because of Defendant’s stated preference for white
employees in those positions. Defendant’s president recently admitted that its
management ranks are mostly white because its customers are mostly white, and that it
has therefore promoted mostly whites into management positions. Defendant’s conduct
violates The Civil Rights Act of 1866 (42 U.S.C. §1981) and entitles Plaintiff to
damages and injunctive relief and entitles the class to injunctive relief, including an order
from this court directing Defendant to immediately cease and correct its discriminatory

conduct.



IL. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 since
these claims arise under federal law.

3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §1391 because the acts or omissions

giving rise to the claims in this Complaint took place in this district.

III. PARTIES

4. Plaintiff, Carlos Aponte, Jr. (“Aponte”), is a non-white Hispanic individual residing in
Windsor, Connecticut. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Aponte was an employee
of the Defendant.

5. Defendant, The Coca-Cola Bottling Company of Northern New England, Inc.
(“Defendant™), is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business located at
One Executive Park Drive, Bedford New Hampshire. At all times relevant to this
Complaint, Defendant was the employer of Aponte and all other similarly situated
individuals.

6. Defendant employs over a thousand employees in New England and New York and
maintains approximately fifteen locations throughout the Northeast.

IV.  FACTS

7. Defendant hired Aponte in September 1996 as a Warehouse Worker.

8. At the time that Aponte was hired, Defendant’s General Manager in Middletown, Tim
Carey assured him that it was a company that offered opportunities for promotion and
growth.

0. Defendant assigned Aponte to its Middletown, Connecticut division.
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Aponte performed his job well over the years and was given periodic raises in pay.

In 2010, Defendant assigned Aponte to its New London, Connecticut division.

By 2010, Defendant had promoted Aponte to the position of Bulk — Account Manager. In
this position he reported to Mr. Edward Hewitt, a white male who held the position of
District Manager.

Below Account Manager was the position of Merchandiser. This was an hourly position
which required employees primarily to stock product in the stores and set up displays.
For calendar year 2010, Defendant rated Aponte’s overall work performance as a 4 out of
a possible 5 points. Aponte’s supervisor, Edward Hewitt, wrote of Aponte’s performance:
“great work 2010 performed all duties in accordance with CCNNE standards.”

On Aponte’s 2010, evaluation Mr. Hewitt also remarked that Aponte was “constantly
searching for growth opportunities.”

For calendar year 2011, Mr. Hewitt rated Aponte “outstanding” in all eleven factors
included on Defendant’s annual performance appraisal form.

In that part of the form, which asked for “recommendations for professional
development” Mr. Hewitt wrote “Management training.”

For calendar year 2012, Hewitt again rated Aponte as “outstanding” in all eleven factors
on his performance appraisal. Once again Hewitt recommended that Aponte receive
“management training as it becomes available.”

For calendar year 2013, Hewitt rated Aponte as “very good” (the second highest possible

score) on all eleven factors on his performance appraisal.
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Under employee comments, Aponte wrote “Looking forward to growing with the
company, to be a future mgt. 18 yrs under my belt and lots of experience in the trade with
small stores and bulk chain stores.”

Hewitt recommended “cross-training all other markets.”

After receiving his performance appraisal for 2013, Aponte asked Hewitt why he was
rated as “very good” rather than “outstanding” as he had been in previous years. Hewitt
responded that if he continued to rate Aponte as outstanding in all categories, then he
(Aponte) would soon have his (Hewitt’s) job.

For calendar year 2014, Hewitt rated Aponte as “outstanding” in all eleven factors in his
performance appraisal. This time Hewitt made no recommendations for professional
development on the form.

In March 2014, Aponte applied for an open position as District Manager. He was
qualified for this position, but did not receive it. Instead Defendant gave the position to a
white employee named John Cone who at the time held the position of Salesman. Cone
had far less experience than Aponte and was less qualified.

In December of 2014, Aponte applied for the open position of Small Stores Sales
Manager. This position is similar to the District Manager position. He was qualified for
the position, but did not receive the promotion. Instead this position was given to a white
employee Tristian Goff. Mr. Goff had less experience in sales and had recently resigned
from Defendant and had come back because his other job didn’t work out. Mr. Aponte

was more qualified Goff and had been more loyal in that he hadn’t quit his job.
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The management positions that Aponte applied for in 2014 but did not get would have
paid him significantly more than he was being paid, would have included incentive and
bonus compensation, would have been an increase in responsibilities and status, and
would have provided him with a company car.

In addition to Aponte, there have been many other non-white employees of Defendant
over the years who have applied for but not received promotions to management
positions. Instead, Defendant has systematically promoted white employees into
management positions because of a stated preference to put white employees in those
positions. These non-white employees include Mr. Rolando Sanchez, Mr. Jose Lugo,
Will Cruzand others.

On Monday, December 5, 2016, Defendant’s President Mark Francoeur traveled to the
Waterford, Connecticut location to conduct a “town hall” style meeting with the
employees.

Mr. Francoeur had been Defendant’s president since 2013 and had worked for Defendant
in other positions for many years.

Prior to this meeting, Defendant advised Aponte and the other employees of the
president’s upcoming visit and suggested that they come up with questions to ask him
during the meeting.

During the town hall meeting at 6:30 a.m., a question Aponte had submitted in writing
anonymously was read aloud by Mr. Art Ryonne, General Manager. The question asked

“Is there a plan to add diversity to upper management? Currently there are no females,
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blacks, or Hispanics in any management positions. How do you motivate a 20+ year
employee when they are constantly overlooked for management positions.”

A second question that Aponte submitted was also read aloud. This question was,
“Employee morale is low mainly because of lack of advancement opportunities. Will
there be opportunities for job shadowing or a management training program for employee
advancement?”

Francoeur responded by saying “In corporate, there are a few females and one black
person, but the majority of our customers are white, so our company is basically white
[run by whites].”

Franceour also said that the company was too busy to create a job shadowing program.
As Aponte was leaving the meeting, he was approached by a white co-worker, Greg
Cunningham, who said “Hey Charlie, now I know why they gave John Cone the
promotion over you... It’s a white run company.” This coworker was laughing while he
made this remark, indicating that it was apparently a joke to him.

This comment made Aponte feel embarrassed and humiliated.

After the meeting, Aponte called his supervisor Ed Hewitt. Aponte said that he wasn’t
happy about Mr. Franceour’s comment. Hewitt responded “I felt uncomfortable myself.”
Later that day at approximately 6:00 p.m., Aponte sent a type-written one page letter to
Mr. Francoeur complaining about his answer and to the lack of diversity in management
positions.

The purpose of Aponte’s letter was to make it clear to the president that his job at Coca-

Cola for the past 20 years has not been a joke to him. He indicated that the lack of
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advancement opportunities for himself and other minorities has not been a joke and that

he was disheartened to find that minorities have no value at Coca-Cola and that it is a

joke to their white coworkers.

Francoeur responded to Aponte’s letter via email and denied that he said that the

company had promoted more whites into management positions because their customers

were white. He did acknowledge that Defendant’s “management could be more

diverse...”

There were over fifty employees in attendance at this town hall meeting who all heard

Mr. Francoeur state that Defendant had a preference for white managers because their

customers were mostly white.

Mr. Francouer’s public statement is evidence of Defendant’s policy of discrimination

with regard to its non-white employees.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

Aponte sues on behalf of himself and all other members of the class, pursuant to Rule 23

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure as hereinafter defined:
All current and former non-white employees of Defendant who have been
employed below the level of District Manager, including but not limited to
Salesmen, Account Managers, Merchandisers, Warehouse Shift Leader and
Warehouse Picker, and other positions, at any time after February 21, 2013
through the date of final judgment in this case, and who have been refused
promotions pursuant to Defendant’s preference and policy to promote white
employees into management positions.

Aponte reserves the right to amend said class definition consistent with information

obtained through discovery.
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Class certification for these federal law claims is appropriate under Rule 23(a) and Rule
23(b)(2) because all the requirements of the Rules are met.

The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. Upon information
and belief, there have been over 40 non-white employees during the preceding four years
who have been passed over for promotions in favor of white employees on account of
Defendant’s illegally and racially motivated preference for white employees in
management positions.

There are questions of law and fact common to the class, including whether they were all
denied promotions pursuant to Defendant’s unlawful policy of favoring white employees
for management positions.

Aponte’s claims are typical of those of the class members. Aponte’s claims encompass
the challenged practices and course of conduct of Defendants. Furthermore, Aponte’s
legal claims are based on the same legal theories as the claims of the putative class
members. The legal issues as to the violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 by Defendant’s
conduct apply equally to Aponte and to the class.

Aponte will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class. Aponte’s claims are
not antagonistic to those of the putative class and he has hired counsel skilled in the
prosecution of class actions.

Defendant has acted on grounds that apply generally to the class including by employing
a racially motivated preference for white employees in management positions, so that
final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the

class as a whole.



COUNT ONE — DISCRIMINATION AGAINST NON-WHITES IN VIOLATION OF THE
CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866 ON ACCOUNT OF RACE ON BEHALF OF PLAINTIFF
AND THE CLASS

51. As set out more fully above, by promoting white over non-white employees in to
management positions, Defendant has engaged in a pattern and practice of disparate
treatment towards its non-white employees, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981, as
amended, which prohibits discrimination on account of race in making and enforcing
contracts including in the context of promotions.

52.  Asadirect and proximate cause of Defendant’s discriminatory conduct, Plaintiff and the
class have suffered and will continue to suffer economic damages including lost earnings
and benefits, as well as non-economic damages including emotional distress and
humiliation, as well as damage to their careers and reputations.

53.  Accordingly, Aponte and all other members of the class are entitled to an injunction
against Defendant directing it to cease its discriminatory practices and policies and to
correct past illegal discriminatory promotional decisions, and to pay illegally denied
raises, as well as an amount to cover their attorneys’ fees and costs.

COUNT TWO - ILLEGAL RACE DISCRIMINATION IN FAILING TO PROMOTE

PLAINTIFF CARLOS APONTE TO THE POSITION OF DISTRICT MANAGER IN

VIOLATION OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866.

54.  As described above, Defendant has illegally failed and refused to promote Plaintiff

Carlos Aponte to the position of District Manager despite his repeated interest in being

promoted to management, and his multiple applications for open positions.
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Defendant’s conduct in this regard was motivated by its desire to have white employees
in management positions rather than non-white employees, in violation of The Civil
Rights Act of 1866, as amended.

As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s discriminatory practice as described
above, Plaintiff Aponte has suffered economic damages in the form of lost promotions
and corresponding raises. He has also suffered non-economic damages including mental
anguish and humiliation, and damage to his professional reputation.

Accordingly, Defendant is liable to Plaintiff Aponte for economic damages, non-

economic damages, attorneys’ fees and court costs.

10



VIII. DEMAND FOR RELIEF
Plaintiffs claim:
a. An order certifying this case as a class action and appointing Aponte and his lawyers as

class representative and class counsel;

b. Compensatory damages;

c. Punitive damages;

d. Interest and costs;

e. Attorneys’ fees; and

f. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable.

IX. JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury for all issues so triable.

Plaintiff, CARLOS APONTE, JR.,
individually and on behalf of other similarly
situated individuals

By
Richard E. Hayber

Hayber Law Firm, LLC

221 Main Street, Suite 502
Hartford, CT 06106

Fed No.: ct11629

(860) 522-8888

(860) 218-9555 (facsimile)
rhayber@hayberlawfirm.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs
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